WOOA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 18 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

O'CONNOR DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,038

FIRST DCA CASE NO. 92-0946

LEON COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

W. TAYLOR MOORE
A30 Beard St.
P.O. Box 507
Tallahassee, FL 32302-0507
(904) 224-4950

M. STEPHEN TURNER, P.A.
DAVID K. MILLER, P.A.
Broad and Cassel
215 S. Monroe St., Ste. 400
P.O. Drawer 11300
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 681-6810

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

Introduction

This case arises under the Court's conflict jurisdiction, Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P. There is direct and express conflict between the decision below, reported at 619 So.2d 361, and the two decisions Board of County Comm'rs of Brevard County v. Snyder, 18 F.L.W. 522 (Fla. 1993) ("Snyder"); and Parker v. Leon County, 18 F.L.W. 521 (Fla. 1993) ("Parker").

The record in this case is contained in the Appendix in support of the County's Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the District Court of Appeal, designated by the symbol (A) and a volume and page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The background facts and the proceedings below are summarized in the Circuit Court's Final Judgment Granting Writ of Certiorari. (A-I: 1-9). The Complaint after Remand in the Circuit Court (attaching verified administrative complaint) also assists understanding of the facts that are summarized in the Circuit Court's Final Judgment. (A-II: 490-512).

In June 1989, Petitioner O'Connor as developer, agent and optionee, controlled 28 acres of property at the northeast corner of the junction of Bradfordville and Thomasville Roads in Leon County. Through his attorney, W. Taylor Moore, O'Connor applied for a limited use rezoning of the property consistent with the designation on the land use map. O'Connor sought to rezone 18 acres of the property from Agriculture (A-2) to Commercial Parkway District and the remaining 10 acres from A-2 to Office Professional Commercial District, separated by a roadway. (A-I: 41, A-II: 759-63).

The property is located at a major intersection in an area designated on the County's land use map as predominantly General Business (and the remainder Urban Undesignated). This intersection location had been previously designated a commercial district (A-I: 27) and was represented by the planning staff in 1984 to be the

It is helpful to review the Complaint after Remand and Judgment together, since all disputed matters not expressly rejected in the Final Judgment were presumably resolved in the owners' favor. See, e.g., Data Lease Fin. Corp. v. Barad, 291 So.2d 608, 611 (Fla. 1974). For the Court's convenience these documents are attached to this Brief.

next "commercial node" along Thomasville Road. (A-II: 551). O'Connor had obtained and submitted a market analysis showing substantial unmet demand for the type of commercial development requested at this site. (A-II: 566-70).

The Comprehensive Plan Ordinance No. 80-69 in effect at the time provided that the land use map was a "visual representation" of Plan policies. The map designations were not fixed boundaries, but rather were a "flexible guide" for determining development order applications submitted during the planning period. The procedure was to conform the map designation to the site dimensions or boundaries in an approved development order. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶s 4-5; A-I: 2; A-II: 643-44).

Without specifying site dimensions, the map designation indicated a suitable location for commercial development in the proximity. Both commercial zoning and commercial development were already established in the vicinity. (Cir. Ct. findings at \P 4, 6; A-I: 2).

The history of the application is summarized in the letter of O'Connor's counsel to the Board of County Commissioners dated September 20, 1989, with exhibits. (A-II: 551-572).

The application was referred to the Planning Commission before submission to the Board of County Commissioners (hereafter "the Board") for final action. Planning staff and other departments of the County reviewed and analyzed the application and supporting data for compliance with the plan standards.

The Planning Commission held public hearings concluding on September 13, 1989. (A-III: 679-688). Following the hearing, planning staff prepared a one-page summary report of the Planning Commission's denial recommendation and an attached 13 page report and analysis for the Board's use at the final hearing on September 26, 1989. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶s 8-9, A-I: 3; A-II: 575-88). The staff's report:

indicated the traffic data was very reasonable (i.e., no appreciable service level and indicated no decrease), detrimental environmental effects. The report noted that a central sanitary sewer could be provided to the site as called for by the site plan. Concern was expressed that the proposal did not provide a buffer area to insulate an existing residence east of the property and requested commercial the use area exceeded the depth of commercial tracts in the vicinity. However, the requested depth was considered advantageous in development without forcing commercial enterprise closer to Thomasville Road and creating a strip type development.

(Cir. Ct. findings at ¶ 8; A-I: 3).

This staff report was presented to the Board along with other expert reports and data submissions, as evidence for consideration at the final hearing. (A-I: 5-6; A-II: 551-596).

With the final Board meeting less than two weeks away, O'Connor's only opportunity to satisfy the planning staff's reported concerns was to modify or amend the application to reduce the area of requested rezoning at the Board's hearing.²

The County Zoning Code Article XII, Section 12:1(1)(d) prohibited filing another rezoning application for 12 months. (A-I:671). O'Connor had already been delayed for two years at the

At the Board hearing, O'Connor withdrew part of the requested commercial use to reduce its depth consistent with other commercial tracts in the area and provide a larger buffer area. The modified application simply eliminated all proposed office development east of the proposed roadway, leaving 10 acres west of the roadway to serve as an additional buffer. This downscaling amendment eliminated about 40 percent of the proposed development acreage. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶ 10; A-I: 4).

The amended plan allowed the area east of the proposed roadway to be used for stormwater retention. However, this was not a change from the original plan, which always allowed adequate stormwater provisions in the indicated area incident to the proposed CO use. (A-II: 552-53, 556-59, 592-94, 618-25). The use plan notes are the same for both the original and downscaled applications, except that the notes pertaining to CO use are deleted, and notes explaining the reduced size are added. (Compare A-II: 596 and 574). Since the Planning Commission had not made any objection to the stormwater retention in the original application, the modified application was presented to the Board solely as a reduction in commercial area to resolve the objections that had been presented. (A-II: 598-600, 606-11, 625-27).

request of County staff while various studies and workshops were conducted. (A-II: 551-52). The County was in the process of drafting a whole new Comprehensive Plan that could affect development standards and feasibility, so that further delay in filing or a delayed refiling would be highly prejudicial.

The planning staff report did not purport to address the application as downscaled. O'Connor therefore suggested that the Board could postpone its decision if any further staff evaluation or review were needed. Members of the Board initially moved and seconded that the decision be postponed for additional evaluation as the Board had done for the previous agenda item. (A-II: 599-603). However, the Board proceeded to receive the evidence directed to the application as amended, and hear public comment; and then proceeded to summarily deny the application without stating any reasons or referring to any standard. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶s 13 and 21; A-I: 3-4, 7; A-II: 605-39).

The Board never stated that the application amendment was barred by any procedural objection or that the application as amended was not decided on the merits. The transcript of the hearing shows that the Board's motion was simply to uphold the recommendation (subsequently rephrased to uphold the vote) of the Planning Commission. (A-II: 637-38). The Board members did not express their reasons for the action taken, except that the member who ultimately moved for denial disclosed her reasons even before the evidence was submitted: "I just think it's premature. I don't think the neighbors want it." (A-II: 604). The Board's motion and vote did not announce any other reason for denial or unmet

standard, or any public purpose for maintaining the agricultural (A-2) zoning at this location.³

O'Connor sought review by writ of certiorari in the Circuit Court.4

The various revised pleadings raised due process concerns about the Board's failure to fully and fairly consider the amended application and its purely political decision making. (A-I: 15-16, 109, 113, 243, 259, 272). In its Answer, the County acknowledged that no findings had been made nor any reasons for denial given by either the Planning Commission or the Board, and asserted that the

The Circuit Court subsequently noted that citizen opposition is not a legally sufficient basis for denial. (A-I: 4 at fn. 1). The Circuit Court cited Salvation Army v. Bd. of County Commissioners of Dade County, 523 So.2d 611, 614-15 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988) (it is not the function of the Board to hold a plebiscite on a land use application). Also see e.g. Bailey v. City of St. Augustine, 538 So.2d 50, 52 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (citizen objections are not a sound basis to support an arbitrary zoning decision); and Conneta v. City of Sarasota, 400 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) (popularity polling of the neighborhood is not sound basis for denial). This ruling was not contested in the District Court of Appeal.

O'Connor was joined as a petitioner in the Circuit Court by Monticello Drug Company, which owned part of the property included in the amended application. Monticello Drug Company subsequently settled with the County based on a further modified use plan, and sold its portion of the property to Publix Supermarkets, Inc. District Court of Appeal, however, would not dismiss the case as to Monticello Drug Company upon being advised of the settlement. After the District Court issued its decision below, the County sought to revoke the settlement with Monticello Drug Company. The County's motion to vacate the stipulated judgment in another circuit court case is presently pending. O'Connor has never settled as to his interest, which continues regardless of the resolution of the interest of Monticello Drug Company or its successors as to their portion of the property involved in this case.

Board was entitled to deny the application without having to make any finding or give any reasons. (A-I: 190-91).

The Circuit Court found that the Board had never explained its denial action although it was the entity responsible to decide the development request. The Court accordingly remanded the issue to the Board to afford an opportunity for entry of a development order specifying reasons for the denial action. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶ 13; A-I: 4-5).

The Board responded to the remand order with a letter to the Court. Although the Board never declined to consider, and had obviously considered the amended application by receiving evidence directed thereto, the Board's letter response to the Court referred only to the planning staff comments as reasons for denial. However, these comments did not address the application as amended. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶s 13-14, 21; A-I: 5, 7-8).

The Circuit Court deemed the County's letter response as its compliance with the Order of Remand (A-II: 471). Plaintiffs then filed a verified administrative complaint with the County demonstrating that their amended application should be approved. (A-II: 475). The Circuit Court authorized this procedure for the purpose of giving the County a last opportunity either to reconsider its decision on the amended application, or to provide

a supporting basis for the denial of the amended application, before the Court undertook final review on the merits.⁵

The County made no response to the verified administrative complaint as allowed by the Remand Order. (A-I: 5). The case was then set for final hearing on the merits in Circuit Court's appellate capacity. The County requested summary disposition on the record after its remand response. (A-II: 472).

The Circuit Court found that the County had denied procedural due process because the Board had failed to fully and fairly consider the application as reasonably amended. "The County knowingly elected not to extend due process, even upon remand order by the Court." (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶ 21; A-I: 8).

The Circuit Court clearly found that the application amendment was lawful and reasonable and could not be ignored by the County:

10. Petitioners reasonably amended their application by presenting an amended limited use site plan to the Board (copy appended). This amendment deleted all the proposed office development east of the proposed roadway and sought commercial use only for about 18 acres of the subject property lying west of the proposed roadway. The remaining 10 acres would continue to be zoned agricultural and serve as a buffer area. Likewise, the depth of requested commercial use was substantially reduced.

The First District Court of Appeal's requirement for an owner-applicant to submit a verified administrative complaint to challenge a development order was first announced during the pendency of this case, and the Circuit Court was obliged to follow that precedent. See Leon County v. Parker, 566 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), after remand sub nom. Emerald Acres Inv., Inc. v. Leon County, 601 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), and Parker v. Leon County, 601 So.2d 1223 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), reversed, 18 F.L.W. 521 (Fla. 1993).

Petitioners reasonably amended their limited site plan application withdrawing significant а part of the commercial use request. There was no rule or policy prohibiting such amendment. This was manifest by the motion and second by Board members to continue the agenda item for 30 days in light of the amendment, and by the absence of any procedural objection by the County Attorney or any other Board members. Furthermore, it is not required that a be rezoning request renoticed upon amendment reducing its scope. See McGee v. <u>City of Cocoa</u>, 168 So.2d 766, 769 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964); Williams v. City of N. Miami, 213 So.2d 5, 7-8 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964).

(A-I: 3-4, 7). The Circuit Court either expressly or impliedly found the application, as amended to reduce the size of the requested rezoning, was nonprejudicial and effectively resolved any valid objections raised by the planning staff.⁶

The Court concluded that the amended application was "unreasonably denied," and that the Board's denial was "unsupported, arbitrary, and contrary to law." (Cir. Ct. findings at \P 21; A-I: 8).

The Circuit Court also concluded that entitlement to the requested use was controlled by the Comprehensive Plan in effect

The Court findings manifest acceptance of the points discussed in the verified complaint and other pleadings. <u>See A-I: 2-4; A-II: 490-512; and Appendix attached to this Brief. <u>See also Data Lease Financial Corp.</u>, cited in fn. 1 above, 291 So.2d at 611.</u>

⁷ The Circuit Court's factual findings are not reviewable in the District Court of Appeal. <u>See Education Dev. Center v. City of West Palm Beach</u>, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989); and <u>City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant</u>, 419 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1982), as reaffirmed in <u>Snyder</u>, above, 18 F.L.W. at 525.

when the application should have been lawfully acted upon. (A-I: 8) Accordingly, the Circuit Court ordered that the requested use and development rights pursuant thereto should be treated as if the application had been approved on September 26, 1989, instead of arbitrarily refused. (A-I: 9).

The County petitioned for certiorari review in the District Court of Appeal, but did not challenge the Circuit Court's findings on the merits or dispute the standard applied by the Circuit Court upon review. See Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 17, stating that "the substantive issue of plan inconsistency will not be addressed by the Board in this Petition." The County instead contended that the Board's action was quasi-legislative action entitled to deferential review, and that the issues were not properly before the Circuit Court in any case because of failure to file a verified administrative complaint under § 163.3215(4), Florida Statutes. Petition at 17-18. The County's failure to contest the merits effectively conceded that if the Circuit Court is allowed to decide the merits, then the Court's ruling that the Board's denial was unsupported and arbitrary was correct.8

Failure to brief an issue constitutes abandonment. <u>See City of Miami v. Steckloff</u>, 111 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1959). The only merits-related issue raised in the County's certiorari petition concerned the effect of the new comprehensive plan that was adopted almost a year after the County denied the instant application. The Board recognized that the proposed new plan could not legally govern the application (A-II: 601) and the Circuit Court rejected the County's argument that the 1990 plan could be retroactively applied to justify the denial action. (Cir. Ct. findings at ¶ 22; A-I: 8), citing <u>Gardens Country Club</u>, Inc. v. Palm Beach County, 590 So.2d 488 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). <u>Accord</u>, <u>see</u> §§ 163.3194(1)(b) and 163.3197, Florida Statutes; and <u>Dade County v. Jason</u>, 278 So.2d

The District Court of Appeal reversed the Circuit Court's judgment on two procedural grounds:

First, the Court held that the denial of the application was a quasi-legislative action for which no procedural due process was required generally, and in particular, no written order specifying reasons or findings supporting denial was required. See decision below, 619 So.2d at 365-66. Since no written order was required, the Court reasoned that the time for filing a verified administrative complaint under the Parker-Emerald Acres decisions began to run on the date of the Board's voice vote, September 26, 1989; and expired thirty days later, so the Circuit Court was barred from reviewing the merits entirely. Id., 619 So.2d n. 1 at 363-64.9

The District Court of Appeal also held that the Board could simply ignore the downscaling amendment presented at the hearing. The Court cited to Zoning Code procedures for submission of initial applications to the Planning Commission for a recommendation. The provisions were silent as to any procedure for downscaling amendments of the type presented here. <u>Id.</u>, 619 So.2d at 365. The Court overlooked the fact that the Planning Commission had effectively reviewed the application as amended, since that was a part of the original reviewed application; and that the Board

^{311 (}Fla. 3d DCA 1973) (collecting cases). The District Court of Appeal did not address the issue.

⁹ The District Court of Appeal apparently considered this issue to be dispositive because it did not remand the case for reconsideration under a quasi-legislative review standard, but preemptively reinstated the County's denial action as unreviewable.

itself had actually considered the amendment without raising any procedural objection, and apparently determined that remand to the Planning Commission or postponement for further review by planning staff would not serve any purpose. However, by ascribing this basis for the Board's action, the Court concluded that the action was insulated from judicial review as discretionary quasilegislative action. The opinion did not consider any due process standards that apply to amendments in quasi-judicial actions, such as the nature and justification of the amendment and the absence of prejudice to opposing parties, apparently in the belief that these standards were immaterial under its concept of the action as a quasi-legislative proceeding.¹⁰

In discussing this issue, the District Court observed that:

It does not clearly appear that the amended limited use site plan presented to the Board corrected all of the problems or deficiencies noted by the [Planning] Commission.

This observation apparently is based on an unfounded assumption that all comments represented valid and reasonable objections. This observation contradicts the Circuit Court's findings, and relates to a merits issue that not only was

¹⁰ The County's certiorari petition did not assert this issue as an independent grounds for reversal, but rather mentioned it as an aspect of its argument that due process is not applicable to an application for rezoning under the comprehensive plan.

unbriefed, but was also expressly waived by the County's Petition for Writ of Certiorari. 11

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