IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,038

N)V	9	ľ	93
CLERK,	SUF	REL	4E	COURT
Bychi	ef De	Puty	Ċk	rk

0'CO1	NOR	DEVELOPMENT	CORPORATION,							
	Petitioner,									
vs.										
LEON	COUN	NTY,								
	Resp	ondent.								

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

DAVID LA CROIX, ESQ. FL BAR NO. 0156740 Post Office Box 293 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 561-1229

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

While they may be useful, the board will not be required to make findings of fact. However, in order to sustain the board's action, upon review by certiorari in the circuit court it must be shown that there was competent substantial evidence presented to the board to support its ruling. . . .

If these standards now apply to this case, the County will be prejudiced in defending its decision on the Plaintiffs' rezoning application because, prior to <u>Snyder</u>, the County did not have to

make a Record to justify its zoning decisions. In this case, the County was not concerned with making a Record, or with the other rezoning and judicial review standards adopted by this Court in Snyder. In Snyder, this Court held:

have changed since [the Snyders'] original application was filed, we believe that justice would be best served by permitting them to file a new application for rezoning of the property. The application will be without prejudice of the result reached by this decision and will allow the process to begin anew according to the procedure outlined in our opinion.

For the many reasons discussed hereinafter, justice would best be served in this case by a similar result.

III. PETITIONER WAS ENTITLED TO DOWNSCALE THE APPLICATION TO MEET RECENT OBJECTIONS, AND THE BOARD WAS REQUIRED TO DECIDE THE DOWN-SCALED APPLICATION AS A MATTER OF DUE PROCESS.

The Petitioner cannot prevail on this issue for several reasons:

No Required Public Hearing and Planning Commission Recommendation

While the Petitioner requests approval of the revised application that was not considered by the County and was not remanded by the County's Board of County Commissioners to the Planning Commission for public hearing and recommendation, as had been requested by the applicants, the process through which the applicants submitted and twice revised their rezoning application prevented any of the revisions from being lawfully approved. This is because the original application was for Limited Use rezoning to the C-2 commercial district, while the amended applications

(including the one considered and denied by the Board of County Commissioners) were for Limited Use rezoning to the CP commercial district.

The Leon County Zoning Code requires that every requested amendment to the Zoning Map be submitted to the Planning Commission for review and recommendation, after a public hearing is first held on the amendment with due public notice. (A: 119-20) The only Planning Commission public hearing held as to the applicants' request was on the application to rezone to Limited Use C-2. (A: 1-3, 48) When the applicants amended their application to request a rezoning to a different district, either another public hearing should have been held on the application or the amendment should have been refused and required to proceed as a new application. In any event, there was no compliance with the ordinance requirements for public notice and a Planning Commission public hearing as to the CP rezoning request.

Florida courts have frequently held that zoning amendments adopted in contravention of required notice and hearing provisions are not voidable, but invalid and void ab initio. E.g., Ellison v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 183 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1966); Fountain v. City of Jacksonville, 447 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); City of Gainesville v. GNV Investments, Inc., 413 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); City of Sanibel v. Buntrock, 409 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), rev. den. 417 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 1982); and Malley v. Clay County Zoning Commission, 225 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969).

Even notice and hearing requirements set forth in a local

zoning ordinance must be complied with, or the action is void. Gulf & Eastern Development Corp. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, supra, and Florida Tallow Corp. v. Bryan, 237 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 4th DCA In other words, the only application which had the required, advertised, Planning Commission public hearing was the initial application to rezone the entire 28 acres to C-2, which the admitted inconsistent with the applicants virtually was Comprehensive Plan by their later amendments, in order to make the proposal 'more consistent' with the Comprehensive Plan. (But, as to the C-2 application, the Board of County Commissioners did not receive the required recommendation from the Planning Commission, which only voted on the unadvertised CP request.)

No Finding of Any Property Interest

The Petitioner's due process argument suffers one other fatal flaw. In holding that the Board had deprived the Plaintiffs of due process, the Circuit Court failed to make one significant finding. No person is guaranteed "due process" by either the United States Constitution or the Constitution of the State of Florida. What is guaranteed is that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process. Therefore, to bottom its decision on the due process clause, the Circuit Court had to first find that the Plaintiffs had been deprived of some property right (life and liberty being irrelevant in this case). <u>E.g.</u>, 10 Fla.Jur.2d Constitutional Law §367 and cases cited therein.

As discussed hereinafter, no person may acquire a property right in zoning or in a particular zoning district, under Florida

law, absent all of the elements of an equitable estoppel. In this case, the issue of an equitable estoppel was neither pleaded nor tried, and the Circuit Court made no finding of an equitable estoppel. Therefore, since there was no deprivation of any property right, there could not have been any denial of due process.

No Right to Have Successive Amendments Considered

Assuming, however, that the applicants had a property right in a zoning district for which they had applied, the Circuit Court found that the Plaintiffs were deprived of due process by the Board's failure to permit the applicants to further amend their application after all required public hearing advertisements had presumably been given and after the required Planning Commission public hearing had presumably been completed. Again, the Circuit Court cited no authority for this decision--because there is none. The Court simply concluded -- without having the full Leon County Zoning Ordinance in the Record and without the issue having been pleaded or tried--that there was no prohibition against such an amendment. The issue, however, is whether there is any requirement to permit such an amendment, rather than the filing of a new application; and there is no such legal requirement. If there were such a requirement, adversely-affected nearby property owners who had to repeatedly attend public hearings on successive amended applications would quickly see to a zoning ordinance change to prohibit such successive amendments.

The Circuit Court also found--again without the issue being

pleaded or tried--that the applicants' further amended application required no further public hearing or advertisement. Had the issue been pleaded, the Board could have briefed the Circuit Court on all of the case law holding that there must be strict compliance with regarding and hearing requirements all notice applications; that any zoning ordinance amendment enacted without such strict compliance is void ab initio; and that virtually the slightest change in regard to the requested rezoning requires new notices and hearings. E.g., Gulf & Eastern Development Corp. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, supra; Ellison v. City of Fort Lauderdale, supra; David v. City of Dunedin, 473 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Fountain v. City of Jacksonville, supra; City of Gainesville v. GNV Investments, Inc., supra; City of Sanibel v. Buntrock, supra; Skaggs v. City of Key West, 312 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); Kelner v. City of Miami Beach, 252 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971); and Florida Tallow Corp. v. Bryan, supra.

In this case, the CP district request was decidedly different than the C-2 request, but the CP request was never advertised for or considered at a public hearing. The last attempted revision provided for less area to be allowed the CP permitted uses, but it proposed to locate all of the stormwater facilities for an adjacent commercial district in part of the land to be left with only A-2 uses, and such a use is not otherwise permitted in an A-2 district and would have been in excess of the A-2 uses allowed on the site before any amendment. In either event, a new public hearing before the Planning Commission and a recommendation by the Planning

Commission would be required for any ordinance approving the request to be valid.

Due Process Claim Abandoned

There is a further reason, however, why no relief could be granted to the Petitioner on its due process argument and why no such relief should have been granted by the Circuit Court. Following the filing of their Fourth Amended Complaint and the Answer thereto, and following the Circuit Court's remand to the County's Board of County Commissioners, the Plaintiffs filed a Fifth Amended Complaint on August 26, 1991. (A: 490-512) The County filed its Answer and Defenses on October 18, 1991. (A: 523-35) In their Fifth (and last) Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs made no mention of any denial of due process and abandoned that claim.

Petitioner Not Involved

As noted above, the Petitioner was not one of the rezoning owners/applicants; was not one of the original Plaintiffs; and did not acquire any ownership interest in any of the property (if, indeed, it has one now) until after the Circuit Court action was filed. Since the Petitioner was not one of the rezoning owners/applicants, how could the Petitioner have been deprived of due process by a failure to consider an amended application as to which the Petitioner was not one of the applicants?

Remedy is Only Due Process

Finally, if the Circuit Court was correct in considering an issue which had been abandoned by the Plaintiffs; and if there was

no need for an advertised Planning Commission public hearing on either the amended request the Board of County Commissioners did consider or the further amended request the Board did not consider; and if there was, in fact, some property right of which the Plaintiffs were deprived; and if there exists some due process right to have repeated amendments reprocessed and considered without having to file a new application and pay a new filing fee; and if the Petitioner had been one of the property owners who filed and repeatedly amended the rezoning application; the Circuit Court still would have been in error in the remedy it provided.

If an applicant is denied due process in the review and consideration of a rezoning request, the appropriate remedy is to require that due process be provided. A deprivation of due process should not be the basis for obtaining approval of a rezoning which is inconsistent with an applicable Comprehensive Plan and therefore unlawful, and for which no subsequent development permits could lawfully be issued. No authority has been cited by the Petitioner for the proposition that a denial of procedural due process can somehow convert a rezoning proposal which is inconsistent with a Comprehensive Plan into one which is consistent.

While the Petitioner has attempted to make an argument that the rezoning request was not inconsistent, by categorizing the County's Future Land Use Map as only a 'guide to future development,' that is what all Comprehensive Plans are supposed to be, and all future development must be consistent with such guides. If, as the Petitioner suggests, a rezoning could have been lawfully

approved which included an area of commercial development greater than that shown on the Future Land Use Map as "General Commercial," it would not have been necessary for the applicants to also have requested an amendment to the Future Land Use Map, as they did with each of their requests.

IV. THIS ACTION SHOULD BE REMANDED TO THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE DETERMINATION OF UNRESOLVED ISSUES, WITH INSTRUCTIONS TO THE CIRCUIT COURT TO REMAND TO THE RESPONDENT'S BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, IF NECESSARY, TO ALLOW COMPLIANCE WITH BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BREVARD COUNTY V. SNYDER.

As has been argued above, there are numerous issues which have been raised by the County which were never resolved by the First District Court of Appeals, including the following:

1. In filing their Third Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court, the Plaintiffs--without basis--changed the style of the case, naming Leon County as the Defendant rather than the Board of County Commissioners. Service, however, was made only upon the Board, and there was never filed by the Plaintiffs any motion to add or substitute Leon County as a defendant, nor was Leon County ever served as a defendant, nor was there any court order permitting Leon County to be added as a defendant. As held in Warner-Lambert Co. v. Patrick, 428 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), an amended complaint adding a defendant, without court order or consent of opposing counsel, is a nullity.

Furthermore, the Plaintiffs' petition for writ of certiorari had to be filed against the proper defendant within a certain time

period, which had expired by the time of filing the Third Amended Complaint. As held in <u>Lindsay v. H. H. Raulerson Junior Memorial Hospital</u>, 505 So. 2d 577, 578 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), the addition of a totally separate new party, even on approval of the court, does not relate back to the filing of the initial complaint.

Furthermore, the Petitioner's due process argument was not raised by petition for writ of certiorari within thirty days of the decision, but in an amended complaint sixteen months later.

As in <u>Lindsay</u>, the Complaint in this case, and any amended complaint, should have been dismissed with prejudice for failure to timely file this action against the proper defendant, as well as for failure to obtain approval to add a party and failure to serve the proper party.

- 2. Because of some confusion over the repeated amendments to the application, <u>none</u> of the amendments received the required, advertised, public hearing and the required Planning Commission recommendationl; and <u>none</u> of the amendments could have been lawfully approved.
- 3. Regardless of any possible procedural due process deprivation, the rezoning was inconsistent with the County's former Comprehensive Plan; and any development under any of the requested rezonings would have been inconsistent with that Comprehensive Plan.
- 4. The law that now applies to the use and development of the property involved is the County's current Comprehensive Plan, but the rezoning has not been reviewed and evaluated under that Plan;

and there has not been pleaded or tried any equitable estoppel claim which would prohibit application of the new Comprehensive Plan.

- 5. Approval of a development permit which is inconsistent with an applicable Comprehensive Plan, and which cannot be lawfully implemented by the issuance of further development permits, is not an appropriate remedy for a procedural due process deprivation.
- 6. The Record does not show that the Petitioner has any ownership interest in the property involved. In fact, the Record in this certiorari action identifies all of the owners, and the Petitioner is not one of them. The Petitioner's claimed interest appears only by way of an allegation in the Complaint, which is unsupported by the Record.
- 7. Any judicial approval of <u>any</u> of the various Limited Use rezonings requested by the applicants could not be implemented unless all of the land involved is developed in accordance with the site plan approved as part of the rezoning. Therefore, unless the Petitioner owns all of the land involved, this action is moot.
- 8. The Petitioner has no standing to raise the issue of denial of procedural due process to the owners/applicants, since the Petitioner was not one of the owners/applicants.
- 9. Indispensable parties, who were the owners of portions of the property involved--and who are still owners according to the Record in this certiorari action--were not joined as parties.
- 10. The procedural due process claim was abandoned by the Plaintiffs in their final Complaint in the trial court and cannot

thereafter be resurrected by the Petitioner.

Assuming all of these issues are resolved by the Circuit Court in the Petitioner's favor, based on the Record provided with the Complaint, the Circuit Court should then be instructed to remand the rezoning application to the County for reconsideration pursuant to the standards and criteria established in <u>Snyder</u>. It is not fair to the County and its citizens and taxpayers to be judged based on the Record made in this rezoning when the law at the time did not require the County to make a Record to defend its decision. Such a remand would be consistent with the decision in <u>Snyder</u> allowing the property owner to have his application reconsidered.

CONCLUSION

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